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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON
AT TACOMA

ROBERT A. BACON, JR.,
Case No. C09-5608RJB
Plaintiff,
ORDER ON T-MOBILE
V. USA, INC."S MOTION
FOR SUMMARY
T-MOBILE USA, INC., a Delaware JUDGMENT
Corporation,
Defendant.

This matter comes before the Court on T-Mobile USA, Inc.’s Motion for Summary Judgmen
Dkt. 17. The Court has considered the motion, opposition to the motion, and the file herein.

l. FACTSAND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. FACTS

Plaintiff, Robert Bacon Jr., was employeyl Defendant from August of 2004 until he was

terminated on December 4, 2008. Dkt. 18-1, at 12, 20. When he was hired with T-Mobile, Plaintiff

marked that he was a “disabled veteran” on an company form. Dkt. 30-3, at 29. Plaintiff was a re|
store manager. Dkt 19. As a store manager he was responsible for “store operations, including g
operations, administrative compliance, and managing personnel issues. Dkt. 19. His managers g
they generally had positive interactions with him, but that Plaintiff could be “argumentative, comb3
and defensive.” Dkt. 18-2, at 3 and 19. Plaintiff states that until October of 2008, he had positive

performance reviews. Dkt. 30-1, at 45.
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Plaintiff states that after a meeting in April of 2008, he approached his manager, Michelle
Vercruysse. Dkt. 30-1, at 28. He states that hehtetdhat the meeting was very stressful for him ang
that he was going to seek medical help. Dkt. 30-1, at 28. Plaintiff then proceeded to see various
physicians. Dkt. 30-1, at 46.

Plaintiff testified that around June of 2008, hiel ids. Vercruysse that he had been diagnosed

with Asperger’'s Syndrome, Attention Deficit Disordand Social Anxiety. Dkt. 30-1, at 29. He state$

that at that time he asked her for help communicating with others. Dkt. 30-1, at 29. He also aske
“slow [him] down in a meeting if she knows [he’s] rungioff.” Dkt. 30-1, at 30. Plaintiff testified that
up until that point, Ms. Vercruysse had already been working with him regarding his communicatiqg
issues. Dkt. 18-1, at 8. According to Plaintiff, heswary blunt in his interactions with others. Dkt. 1
1, at 6-7. She would help him “soften” his approach. Dkt. 18-1, at 6-7. Plaintiff testified that he k
that sometimes people that he worked with misinterpreted his statements, but he usually did not K
what he had done wrong. Dkt. 18-1, at 21. He testified that to him “bad communication is in som
threatening, . . . you know cursing, verbally abusive, standing up, flailing your arms around, things
that.” Dkt. 18-1, at 21. Plaintiff testified thia¢ would approach Ms. Vercruysse about communicatig
issues, and she would make comments like, “Asperger’s is hard.” Dkt. 18-1, at 10. He testified th
had “several conversations about his Asperger’'s Syndrome. Dkt. 18-1, at 10.

In the last few days of September and beginning of October 2008, Plaintiff and several othg
Mobile employees were in Las Vegas for a conferemid. 30-1, at 24. Plaintiff states that while at t
conference, he was ill, and began having great diffiauitly his asthma. Dkt. 30-1, at 24. He testifieq
that he had a meeting with Ms. Vercruysse and John Delano (Ms. Vercruysse’s supervisor), and t
discussed that he did not look well and that he was having trouble with his asthma. Dkt. 30-1, at |
Plaintiff testified that they discussed the fact that he had his back to a keynote speaker at one poi
the conference, and that he responded to two text messages during that speech. Dkt. 18-1, at 28,

A few hours after that meeting, Plaintiff testifitttht his asthma attacks progressed to the poir
where he had to be hospitalized. Dkt. 30-1, at 24. He acknowledges that he was supposed to att
meeting the morning after he was admitted to the hospital. Dkt. 30-1, at 32. He states that he se

message to Ms. Vercruysse telling her that he wouldb@aoing. Dkt. 30-1, at 32. Plaintiff testified th
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she sent him a text asking why he was not going to the meeting so he sent her a text back and told her

again that he was in the hospital. Dkt. 30-1, at 32. At that point she called him, and he told her h¢

had

been hospitalized due to his asthma. Dkt. 30-1, at 32-33. While he was in the hospital, Plaintiff tgstifiec

that a doctor T-Mobile had hired to be at the conference called him about helping him get his luggage

from the hotel. Dkt. 18-1, at 25. Plaintiff testdi¢hat Ms. Vercruysse then called him with the same
information a few timesld. Ms. Vercruysse states that Plaintiff yelled at her and hung up on her. D

19, at 3. Plaintiff states that another T-Mobileptogee, Maria Lopez-Reyher, called him and told hinp

kt.

not to be rude to Ms. Vercruysse. Dkt. 18-1, at 25Rkaintiff states that he then yelled at her. Dkt. 18-

1, at 25-26. Plaintiff states that the regional direofdruman resources, Albert Galarza, then called
in the hospital and chastised him for losing his tem@kt. 30-1, at 48. Plaintiff states that his

“frustration skyrocketed.” Dkt. 30-1, at 48. He stdtedt he was given an IV drip of steroids for his

m

asthma. Dkt. 30-1, at 24. He attributes his argumentative behavior at the time to the drugs he wgs give

and the fact that he was in the hospital away from hdbie. 30-1, at 24. Plaintiff also states that he
not given the medication that he usually takes f@ression and help controlling his emotions. Dkt. 3D

1, at 25. He states that he was very anxious. Dkt. 30-1, at 25.

as

While Plaintiff was still on leave with his illness, Ms. Vercruysse, Mr. Galarza, and Mr. Delano

met to discuss whether T-Mobile was still a good fit for Plaintiff. Dkt. 30-2, at 21. Ms. Vercruysse

testified that they discussed Plaintiff's behavior prior to the meeting in Las Vegas, “and some of the

conversations that had taken place prior to that and felt that - it was consistent in terms of his behpviors

Dkt. 30-2, at 23. She then testified that “couplethhe fact that trying to accommodate and help and

he hangs up on me and yells at me and is yelling at Marina, as well, those behaviors all were consisten

with what was experienced through our other conversations.” Dkt. 30-2, at 23. She states that th

D

discussed whether this was a “pattern,” thatvhe not changing, and whether he should stay at T-

Mobile. Dkt. 30-2, at 23.

y

Plaintiff states that when he returned homesdra out an email, trying to explain and apologizjng

for his behavior while in Las Vegas. Dkt. 30-1, at 49.

Around a week after Plaintiff returned to work, on October 21, 2008, Ms. Vercruysse and Mr.

=

Galarza discussed his behavior at the Las Vegas conference and his overall job performance with
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Plaintiff. Dkt. 21, at 2. Plaintiff was told that Bbould take a couple of days and decide if he intends
remain at T-Mobile. Dkt. 21, at 2.

Plaintiff e-mailed Mr. Galarza on Octob28, 2008, asking for a written explanation of T-
Mobile’s concerns “due to [his] disability.” Dkt. 21, at 7. Mr. Galarza stated that this was the first
he was aware that Plaintiff might have a medical condition that interfered with his ability to perforn
work. Dkt. 21, at 2.

On October 28, 2008, T-Mobile issued Plaintifdacision time memao” which is the equivalent

a final warning. Dkts. 19, at 2 and 39. The “decisiore memo” stated that Plaintiff was not “living Tt}

Mobile Values,” was behaving unprofessionally, wasaalve, insubordinate and argumentative. DKkt.
at 39. Plaintiff was given an opportunity to eitttommit to immediate improvement or leave the
company. Dkt. 19, at 39. Plaintiff states that if hese to stay, he would lose eligibility for some of tf
company’s benefits. Dkt. 30-1, at 49. Btdf opted to stay. Dkt. 30-1, at 49.

Plaintiff states that after receiving the “decision time memo,” he called Mr. Galarza and told
he felt he was being discriminated against due to his disability. Dkt. 30-1, at 49.

On November 6, 2008, Plaintiff submitted written requests for accommodations for his Asp
Syndrome, Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, and social anxiety disorder. Dkt. 21, at 9. In
support of his request, Plaintiff provided theropn of Bradley W. Strong, M.D., who opined that
Plaintiff's conditions were “moderately severe” and affected his interpersonal communication skills
ability to communicate, both in writing and orally. DRi., at 15. Dr. Strong further opined that Plain
needed the following accommodations:

- Provide clear concrete examples of inappropriate behavior and communications with

their consequences in a timely fashion

- Allow Mr. Bacon to opt out of social functiorisat are not essential to conduct of his job

description, i.e. after hours social functions and functions not directly related to conduct of

business

- Allow for instructions to be provided in both oral and written form

- Provide written agenda prior to meetings with supervisors including topics for discussion

and questions of concern

- Provide a written summary of meeting with supervisors to allow for review

- Provide sensitivity training regarding Asperger’s Disorder for supervisors and peers

- Provide a co-worker or peer for any formal meetings with supervisors involving

disciplinary or job performance review

Dkt. 21, at 15. On November 19, 2008, Mr. Galarzarméxl Plaintiff that T-Mobile could provide five

pd to

me

N his

of

19,

him

brger’

and

iff

of the seven requested accommodations. Dkt. 21 at 2. T-Mobile was unwilling to provide sensitiity
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training on Asperger’s or allow a co-worker or peer to attend meetings with supervisors involving

disciplinary or job performance review. Dkt. 21, at 2 and 17.

Plaintiff acknowledged that in late October/eddgvember 2008, he told one of his employeeq,

Amanda Laintz, that she could bring her children to the store for the last half an hour of her shift o

nce a

month on Sunday to accommodate her childcare needs. Dkt. 30-1, at 38. He testified that the stqre dic

very little business on Sunday evenings, and always had two employees on duty. Dkt. 30-1, at 3§. He

testified that her job duties did not require that she go in and out of the back room. Dkt. 30-1, at 38.

Plaintiff stated that he gave her permission to hhgechildren in the public areas of the store, which yas

not against company policy, but did not give Ms. Laintz permission to allow the children in the badk roor

of the store. Dkt. 30-1, at 38-39. He testified that he was surprised that she allowed them back there

unattended as they were young, and he felt that was not safe. Dkt. 30-1, at 39-40.
On November 17, 2008, Plaintiff filed a chafadiscrimination with the Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission (“‘EEOC”). Dkt. 30-2, at 37.

On November 24, 2008, Ms. Laintz sent an email to Ms. Vercruysse complaining of Plaintiff

conduct in the work place. Dkt. 19, at 42-43. Ms. Vercruysse states that she then spoke to Ms. L
about Plaintiff. Dkt. 19, at 4.

On November 28, 2008, the EEOC sent a “Notice of Charge of Discrimination” to T-Mobile
regarding Plaintiff. Dkt. 30-2, at 35.

On December 2, 2008, Ms. Laintz sent another email to Ms. Vercruysse. Dkt. 19, at47. M
Laintz complained about being scheduled on Sundays (and the fact that certain other employees
scheduled then) despite Plaintiff’'s assurance that she would not work that shift. Dkt. 19, at 47. M
Laintz then related that as a compromise, Plaintiff gave her permission to have the children in the

for the last half hour of her shift. Dkt. 19, at 47. Ms. Vercruysse states that on December 2, 2008

S

Qintz

JJ

vere |
S.
store

. she

reviewed the video tape for the store and saw the children in the back room of the store, an area that is

open to the public, on three Sundays. Dkt. 19, gfThis tape was not produced during discovery, an
Defendant states that it is lost. Dkt. 30-2, at 33.) W&scruysse states that allowing the children in th
back room violated T-Mobile’s Loss Prevention Policy. Dkt. 19, at 4. T-Mobile maintains various

policies intended to protect employees and assets from harm or loss - the Loss Prevention Policy
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17. The Loss Prevention Policy provides, in part, that only visitors “with a bonafide business purp
were allowed in non-public areas,” should be with aioesand that family and friends were restricteg
public areas of the store. Dkt. 19, at 45.

On December 3, 2008, Plaintiff received an emaiinfiMr. Galarza stating that Plaintiff was to
attend a meeting on December 4, 2008, to discuss “policy and procedure.” Dkt. 30-1, at 50. Afte
Plaintiff requested more information, Mr. Galarza emailed him back and stated that “[w]e will ask y
about store operations.” Dkt. 30-3, at 51.

On December 4, 2008, Ms. Vercruysse, Mr. Delano, and Mr. Galarza met with Plaintiff. DK

at 5. They told Plaintiff that he was being terminated for allowing Ms. Laintz to bring her children {o

work, and allowing her to place them in the store’s back room. Dkt. 19, at 5. At the time they mag
decision to terminate him, Ms. Vercruysse and Mr. Galarza states that they was not aware of any
manager who had violated the policy that prevents unauthorized people in the back rooms of the
a manager that allowed an employee to bring preschool children to the store while she worked. [
at 5 and 21, at 3. Mr. Delano states that he was also unaware of any other T-Mobile employee th
allowed non-authorized people in the back room of theest Dkt. 20, at 3. Plaintiff states that he wa
told that allowing Ms. Laintz to bring her children into the back room of the store violated company
policy, and that violating company policy was a violation of his “decision time memo,” and resulteq

termination. Dkt. 30-1, at 51.

Plaintiff testified that he knew that his formgrpervisor, Lori Smith, allowed her children in the

non-public areas of the store while working. Dkt. 30-1, at 51. Sophie Tsohonis, a T-mobile emplg
testified that she occasionally brought her children to work and into the non-public areas of the stq
Dkt. 30-1, at 54. Neither was terminated.

B. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On September 3, 2009, Plaintiff filed this casegaig that Defendant discriminated against hirn
and failed to accommodate his disability contrary to Washington Law Against Discrimination (“WL
RCW 49.60¢t seq, and the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), 42 U.S.C. § 121éxlseq Dkt. 1.
He asserts that Defendants violated the ifakhedical Leave Act (“FMLA"), 29 U.S.C. § 2654t seq

Id. He makes reference to 42 U.S.C. § 200RE. Plaintiff also asserts that the Defendant intentional
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or negligently inflicted emotional distress upon hild. Plaintiff seeks damages, attorneys’ fees, and
costs. ld. Trial is set for September 27, 2010. Dkt. 7.

C. PENDING MOTION

T-Mobile moves for summary dismissal of all Pk#i’s claims, arguing that: 1) his state and
federal discrimination claims should be dismissed bezhe has failed to state a prima facie case an
Mobile had a legitimate non-discriminatory basis for terminating him, 2) there is no evidence to su
claim for failure to accommodate, 3) T-Mobile did imderfere with his FMLA rights, and 4) Plaintiff's
claims of negligent and intentional infliction of emotional distress should be dismissed due to lack

evidence. Dkts. 17 and 34.

] T-
pport

of

Plaintiff responds, and argues that: 1) he has stated a prima facie case for disability discrinpinatic

and there is evidence of pretext, 2) Defendalédao reasonably accommodate Plaintiff, 3) T-Mobile
retaliated against Plaintiff, 4) T-Mobile intered with Plaintiff's rights under the FMLA, and 5)
Defendant’s agents’ conduct, while Plaintiff was in the hospital, is sufficient evidence on his intent
or negligent emotional distress claims. Dkt. 32.

. DISCUSSION

A. SUMMARY JUDGMENT - STANDARD

Summary judgment is proper only if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories,

admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any

material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c).

moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law when the nonmoving party fails to make a

onal

and

The

sufficient showing on an essential element of a claim in the case on which the nonmoving party has the

burden of proof.Celotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 323 (1985). There is no genuine issue of fa

ct for

trial where the record, taken as a whole, could not lead a rational trier of fact to find for the non mgving

party. Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Co#g5 U.S. 574, 586 (1986) (honmoving party
must present specific, significant probative evidence, not simply “some metaphysical d&eet d)so

Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e). Conversely, a genuine disputeaw@aterial fact exists if there is sufficient

evidence supporting the claimed factual dispute, raguaijudge or jury to resolve the differing versions

of the truth. Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, In&77 U.S. 242, 253 (1986);W. Elec. Serv., Inc. v. Pac.
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Elec. Contractors Ass;r809 F.2d 626, 630 (9th Cir. 1987).

The determination of the existence of a material fact is often a close question. The court m
consider the substantive evidentiary burden that the nonmoving party must meet at trial — e.g., a
preponderance of the evidence in most civil cagerlerson477 U.S. at 254F.W. Elec. Serv., Inc809
F.2d at 630. The court must resolve any factuakssidi controversy in favor of the nonmoving party
only when the facts specifically attested by that party contradict facts specifically attested by the n
party. The nonmoving party may not merely state that it will discredit the moving party’s evidence
trial, in the hopes that evidence can be developed at trial to support the Tl#¥nElec. Serv., Inc809
F.2d at 630 (relying oAnderson, supra)Conclusory, non specific statements in affidavits are not
sufficient, and missing facts will not be presumédjan v. Nat'l Wildlife Fed’'n 497 U.S. 871, 888-89
(1990).

B. DISABILITY DISCRIMINATION CLAIM UNDER ADA AND WLAD

The Ninth Circuit and Washington courts apply the burden shifting scheme announced in
McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Greedll U.S. 792 (1973), to claims of employment discrimination in
violation of the ADA and WLAD.Gambini v. Total Renal Care, Inet86 F.3d 1087 (9th Cir. 2007);
Snead v. Met. Prop. & Cas. Ins. CB37 F.3d 1080, 1093 (9th Cir. 2001); akmica v. Wal-Mart Stores,
Inc., 120 Wn.App. 481 488 (2004). Under tMcDonnell Douglascheme, a Plaintiff must first
establish a prima facie case of discrimination because of a disaBifigadat 1093. The burden then
shifts to the employer “to provide a non-discriminatory reason for that discharge which disclaims g
reliance on the employee's disability in having taken the employment actibrfifiternal citations
omitted. If the employer does so, then a plaintiff bears the burden of showing that the employer’s
for termination was pretextuald.

1. Plaintiff's Prima Facie Case

Under the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12112(a), employars prohibited from discriminating against
“qualified individuals with a disability” in the terms, conditions, and privileges of employment. To 1
a claim under the ADA, an employee bears the ultimate burden of proving that he is: “(1) disabled
the Act, (2) a qualified individual with a disability, and (3) discriminated against because of the

disability.” Bates v. United Parcel Service, In611 F.3d 974, 988 (9th Cir. 2008)ternal quotations
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omitted. A similar standard is used for a claim under WLABambini v. Total Renal Care, Inet86
F.3d 1087, 1093 (9th Cir. 2007). Parties are not disputing that Plaintiff is “disabled under the Act,
that he was a “qualified individual with a disability, so this opinion will address the third prong.

“The ADA outlaws adverse employment decisions motivated, even in part, by animus base
plaintiff's disability or request for accommodation - a motivating factor standBatK v. Curry County
451 F.3d 1078, 1085 (9th Cir. 2006).

Plaintiff points to two adverse employment actions: the “decision time memo,” and his
termination. Dkt. 32. Viewing the facts in a light most favorable to Plaintiff, there is sufficient evid

that T-Mobile’s decision to issue a “decision time memo,” which included a loss of benefits, was

or

0 on ¢

ence

motivated by Plaintiff's disability. According to Ptdiff, his supervisor, Ms. Vercruysse was aware that

he had Asperger’'s Syndrome, Attention Deficit Disorder, and Social Anxiety Disorder as early as June c

2008. Dkt. 30-1, at 29. Plaintiff testified thatJane of 2008, he asked Ms. Vercruysse for help

communicating with others and to let him know if he is not acting appropriately in a meeting. DKkt.

30-1,

at 29-30. Plaintiff testified that she would help him “soften” his approach. Dkt. 18-1, at 6-7. He states

that when she would help him with his communication issues, she would make comments like

“Asperger’s in hard.” Dkt. 18-1, at 10. A jury cdutonclude from these facts that his supervisor kngw

of his disabilities and one of the main symptoms of his Asperger's Syndrome - difficulty in

communicating appropriately with others.

A jury could conclude that the issuance of the “decision time memo” was directly motivated| by

the symptoms of his disability. The Ninth Circuit has specifically held that “[cJonduct resulting from a

disability is part of the disability and not a separate basis for terminat@eyibini v. Total Renal Care,

Inc., 486 F.3d 1087, 1093 (9th Cir. 2007), or in this case issuance of the memo - an undisputed adglverse

employment action. IGambini,a woman with bipolar disorder was discharged after having “violent
outbursts” which the Court found to be “arguably symptomatic of her bipolar disoiderHer

employer stated that she was terminated due to her beh&liofhe Court found that the jury was

entitled to infer reasonably that “her ‘violent outburst’ . . . was a consequence of her bipolar disorder,

which the law protects as part and parcel of her disability.” TheGambiniCourt concluded that “if the

law fails to protect the manifestations of her disability, there is no real protection in the law becauge it

ORDER
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would protect the disabled in name onlyd., at 1094-95. As was the casedambinij there is evidencs
in the record that his supervisors were awareRleantiff had trouble communicating appropriately wit
others because of his Asperger’'s Syndrome. Moreover, the “Decision Time Memo” was based, a
to T-Mobile, on Plaintiff not “living T-Mobilevalues,” his unprofessional behavior, abrasiveness,

insubordination and argumentative nature. Dkt. 19, at 39. Just prior to issuing the memo, Ms. Ve

testified that she, Mr. Galarza, and Mr. Delano amet discussed Plaintiff's behavior. Dkt. 30-2, at 21..

ccordi

rcruys

She testified that they discussed that his Plaintiff's conduct prior to the meeting in Las Vegas, at the

conference, and while he was in the hospital. Dkt. 30-2, at 23. They concluded that it was all “co
in terms of his behaviors.” Dkt. 30-2, at 23.rtRer Defendant does not dispute that, for example,
Plaintiff's yelling at people while he was on steroidshe hospital was arguably consistent with his
Asperger’'s Syndrome. A jury could conclude that the decision to issue the memo was a arguably
result of his “conduct resulting from his disabilitgzambinj at 1093.

In Gambini,the Plaintiff raised her claims undeetADA and the WLAD, as did Plaintiff here.
The Ninth Circuit remanded the case on both claims, as they both use the same standard. Accor(
Plaintiff's ADA and WLAD claimsshould not be dismissed.

Moreover, there are issues of fact as to whether the decision to terminate him was motivate
his disability. First, the timing of the decision to terminate him, within two months of the Las Vega
conference events, and within a month of his formal request for accommodations for his disabilitie
sufficient for a jury to conclude that the decision to terminate him was motivated by his disability.
Further, Plaintiff states that he was told thatwlig Ms. Laintz to bring her children into the back roo
of the store violated company policy, and that wioacompany policy was a violation of his “decision
time memo,” and resulted in his termination. Dkt. 30-1, at 51. As above, there are facts in the reg
from which a jury could infer that the decision to issue the “decision time memo” was motivated by
Plaintiff's disability. To the extent that a jury concludes T-Mobile relied on the memo for his
termination, it could also conclude that T-Mobile was motivated by Plaintiff's disability.

Plaintiff has met his prima facie burden as to this claim on both the adverse employment ag
he alleges.

2. T-Mobile’s Proffered Non-Discriminatory Reason for Employment Actions
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T-Mobile argues that its decision to issue the “decision time memo” and to terminate Plaint
unrelated to his disability. Dkts. 17 and 34. T-Mobile failed to meet its burden here. T-Mobile
acknowledges that the decision was based on Plaintiff’'s behavior, which is arguably consistent w
symptoms of his disability. This Court, like tBambiniCourt, is not unsympathetic to T-Mobile’s
plight as an employer. As stated@ambinj employees with disabilities do not have “absolute proteq
from adverse employment actions based on disability-related conddgtat 1095. It further provided
that:

Under the ADA a plaintiff must still establish that she is “an individual with a disability

who, with or without reasonable accommodation, can perform the essential functions of

the employment position that such individual holds or desires.” Washington law has a

similar provision: “[T]he prohibition against discrimination because of such disability shall

not apply if the particular disability prevents the proper performance of the particular
worker involved.” Even if a plaintiff were to establish that she's qualified, under the ADA
the defendant would still be entitled to raise a “business necessity” or “direct threat”
defense against the discrimination claim.

Id. Defendant here does not raise either the “business necessity” or “direct threat” defense.

T-Mobile has failed to meet its burden in regard to its decision to issue the “decision time n

ff was

th the

tion

emo,

at this stage in thilcDonnell Douglasurden shifting scheme, and so the motion to summarily dismjss

this claim, on the basis of issuance of the memo, should be denied.

T-Mobile argues that the decision to termin@taintiff was based on his violation of the Loss

Prevention Policy. Dkt. 17. It argues that this is a non-discriminatory reason to dismiss him. T-Mgobile’.

proffered reason is sufficient on this portion of theralaiThe next relevant inquiry is whether there is
evidence of pretext.
3. Plaintiff's Evidence of Pretext
If the employer is able to articulate a non-discriminatory reason for its adverse employment
actions, a plaintiff must then show that the proffered reason is prete$medhd.at 1093. A plaintiff
must have availed himself of the opportunity to demonstrate that the proffered reason was
not the true reason for the employment decision. This burden now merges with the ultimatg
burden of persuading the court that he has been the victim of intentional discrimination.
He may succeed in this either directly by persuading the court that a discriminatory reason
more likely motivated the employer or indirectly by showing that the employer's proffered
explanation is unworthy of credence.
Dark, at 1085 ¢iting Sneadat 1093-94).

Plaintiff has succeeded in showing sufficient evidence that the decision to terminate him fo
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allowing a subordinate to violate the company poti€ not allowing unauthorized people in the back
room was a pretext for discrimination. Plaintiff states that he did not authorize Ms. Laintz to allow
children in the back room. The record does contain evidence of supervisors and others who had
in the back room of various stores, and that thenewet fired for it. A “showing of pretext is bolstereq
by comparative evidence Dark, at 1086. Plaintiff has pointed to sufficient evidence in the record f
which a jury could conclude that his terminatfonviolation of company policy was a pretext for
discrimination. The motion to summarily dismRlgintiff's discrimination claims under both the ADA
and WLAD should be denied.

C. FAILURE TO ACCOMMODATE UNDER ADA AND WLAD

Both the ADA and WLAD require employers to make reasonable accommodation for emplg
with disabilities. 42 U.S.C. 8 12111(8) and RCW 49.60.180. “The ADA's definition of discriminati
includes not making reasonable accommodations to the known physical or mental limitations of at
otherwise qualified individual with a disability ... unless such covered entity can demonstrate that {
accommodation would impose an undue hardship on the operation of the budargst 1088 €iting

42 U.S.C. § 12112(b)(5)(A)). In order to evaluate a failure to accommodate claim, in addition to s

her
Childre
|

fom

yees
DN
L

he

nowin

that they were disabled and qualified to perform the essential functions of the job, plaintiffs must show

that there exists “a reasonable accommodation” tbatdvenable them to perform the essential functi
of their job. Zukle v. Regents of University of Californi&6 F.3d 1041, 1046-47 (9th Cir. 1999). The
burden then shifts to the employer to show either, the accommodation imposes an undue hardshi
the requested accommodation would not enable the employee to perform the essential functions
position. Id., at 1047.
1. Plaintiff's Prima Facia Case

Parties do not contest that Plaintiff was disabled or qualified for his position. The issue, thg
over whether Defendant actually followed through with the accommodations that it stated it would
and whether all Plaintiff’'s accommodations were “reasonable.”

There are issues of fact as to whether Defendant failed to follow through with the accommcg

that it stated that it would give. For example, Plaintiff argues that Defendant failed to provide a wi

DNS

D or tf

Df thei

n, is

give

datiol

itten

agenda prior to the meeting in which he was terminated that included topics for discussion and gyestior
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of concern. Dkt. 32. The record does containilsnfilom Ms. Galarza informing Plaintiff of the

meeting. Dkts. 30-3, at 50-51. There are issues of fact as to whether they sufficiently complied wjith the

accommodation.

Plaintiff argues that T-Mobile failed to give him one of his requested accommodations: that
providing sensitivity training on Asperger's Syndrome for his supervisors and peers. Dkt. 32. Theg
issues of fact as to whether this accommodation was reasonable. To avoid summary judgment, H
“need only show that an ‘accommodation’ seems reasonable on its face, i.e., ordinarily or in the ry
cases.”Dark, at 1088. In support of its reasonablenesankff points to the fact that his physician
suggested it. Dkt. 21, at 15. The burden now shifts to T-Mobile.

2. T-Mobile’s Burden

T-Mobile does not state that providing trainingAsperger’s would be a hardship. Instead it

argues that providing sensitivity training to Plainsffeers and supervisors does not help him perform

the core functions of his job. Dkt. 17 and 34arfjues that sensitivity training for others does not hel
Plaintiff alter his behaviorld.

There are issues of fact as to whetherabisommodation was reasonable. Plaintiff offers the
testimony of Steven Craig Altabet, Ph.D. Dkt. 0at 59-60. Dr. Altabet testified that people with
autism spectrum disorders, including Asperger’s Syndrome, have disabilities involving social inter

Dkt. 30-3, at 59. He testified that in order for the interaction to be successful, “not just the person

the disability had to be able to function adequate®kt. 30-3, at 59. He opined that training others i

the work place about the disorder would help the person with the disability by giving co-workers “n
tolerance and understanding.” Dkt. 30-3, at 59. He opined that co-workers were less likely to
misinterpret “certain behaviors as being intentionallyrude or obnoxious . . [they] are able to coope
better.” Id. He opined further that training other people in the work place may help to learn to ask
guestions a certain way, and be aware that people with Asperger’s Syndrome may be sensitive to
Id. Summary judgment on the failure to accommodate claim should not be granted.

D. ADA RETALIATION

In his Response to the Summary Judgment Motion, Plaintiff now attempts to argue that his

for retaliation under the ADA should not be dismissB#it. 32. In its Reply, Defendant properly point
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out that not only did Plaintiff not raise a retalmticlaim in his EEOC Complaint (Dkt. 30-2, at 35-39),

he

fails to make a claim for retaliation in his Complaint filed in this case. Dkt. 34. Further, Defendan{ did

not move to dismiss this claim. The Court is without a basis to act. This claim is not a part of this
nor has Plaintiff moved to amend his Complaint to add a claim for retaliation.

D. FMLA CLAIM

In order to make a claim under the FMLA, a plaintiff must show that 1) they took FMLA-
protected leave, 2) they suffered an adverse employment action, and 3) the adverse employment
was causally related to the FMLA leavi®achelder v. American West AirlieZh9 F.3d 1112, 1124 (9th
Cir. 2001).

Case,

actior

Plaintiff has failed to show that there was any adverse employment action which was causally

connected to his FMLA leave. Plaintiff argueattthe decision to issue the “decision time memo” wals

caused, in part, by his taking FMLA leave after the emrice in Las Vegas. Dkt. 32. Plaintiff points

(0]

the testimony of a Tehra Bean who alleges that she heard from another individual that he was undler the

impression that Ms. Vercruysse was upset because Plaintiff's taking leave was “bad for business.

" Dkt.

32. Defendant properly objects to the admission of this evidence as hearsay. This evidence shodld be

excluded. Plaintiff points to no other evidence linkamy adverse employment action to his taking leave.

Further, Plaintiff testified that he received all thedical leave that he requested. Dkt. 18-1, at 17-18{

Plaintiff points to no evidence in the record that Defendant interfered with his rights under the FMLA.

The claim should be dismissed.

E. STATE LAW CLAIMSOF INTENTIONAL AND NEGLIGENT INFLICTION OF
EMOTIONAL DISTRESS

1. Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress
In order to maintain a claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress or outrage, a plain
Washington must show “(1) extreme and outrageous conduct; (2) intentional or reckless infliction
emotional distress; and (3) actual result to the plaintiff of severe emotional disBak$id v. Boeing
Co, 127 Wash.2d 853, 867 (199B}ernal citations omitted The conduct in question must be “so
outrageous in character, and so extreme in degree, as to go beyond all possible bounds of decen

be regarded as atrocious, and utterly intolerable in a civilized commuidty Although whether

conduct is sufficiently outrageous is ordinarily a question for the jury, the trial court must decide a$
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threshold matter, whether reasonable minds could differ about whether the conduct was so extreme as

result in liability. Dicomes v. Statel 13 Wash.2d 612, 630 (1989).

Plaintiff argus that the basis for his intentional and negligent infliction of emotional distress

claims is based on the Defendant’s employees conduct while Plaintiff was in the Las Vegas hospital. D

32. Plaintiff fails to meet the threshold question anihientional infliction of emotional distress claim
That is reasonable minds could not differ about wieT-Mobile’s employees’ treatment of Plaintiff

while he was in the Las Vegas hospital “was so extreme as to result in liabBildgrhes at 630. It was
not. Plaintiff fails to point to any evidence fromiaina jury could conclude that the various people’s

attempts to talk with Plaintiff about getting his luggage from the hotel to the hospital, and helping hi

m

make travel arrangements home was in any manner extteoutrageous. Further, Plaintiff fails to pojnt

to evidence that the other T-Mobile employees, even if they yelled at him for being rude to other

employees was conduct “so outrageous in character, and so extreme in degree, as to go beyond gll

possible bounds of decency. . Bitklid, at 867, in the circumstance. Plaintiff makes no showing that

unpleasantness alone is sufficient under Washington law to constitute a claim for outrage. This claim

should be dismissed.
2. Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress

A Washington plaintiff can recover for negligentliction of emotional distress if he proves: (1

negligence, i.e., duty, breach, proximate cause, and injury; and (2) the additional requirement of gbjecti

symptomatology.Kloepfel v. Bokar149 Wash.2d 192, 199 (200%egaline v. State Department of
Labor and Industriesl44 Wash. App. 312, 327 (2008).

Plaintiff does not met the first portion of the test for a negligent infliction of emotional distregs

claim - negligence. First, Plaintiff fails to artiaté what duty is to be imposed upon Defendant as hig
employer. “There is no duty to for an employer to provide employees with a stress free work plac

Snyder v. Medical Service Corp. of Western Washingtih Wash.2d 233, 243(2001). “Under

1%

established notions of negligence, a duty is owed to others only with respect to those risks or hazards

whose likelihood made the conduct unreasonably dangerous. Conduct is unreasonably dangerous
risks outweigh its utility."Bishop v. State77 Wash. App. 228, 234 (199%)ternal citations omitted

“The utility of permitting employers to handle workplace disputes outweighs the risk of harm to
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employees who may exhibit symptoms of emotional distress as a rddultAbsent a statutory or
public policy mandate, employers do not owe employees a duty to use reasonable care to avoid t
inadvertent infliction of emotional distress when responding to workplace displgteat’235. Evening
assuming that Defendant owed Plaintiff a duty, Plaintiff makes no showing on the remaining neglig
elements. In any event Defendant’s duty and anwtiai thereof, are subsumed in the other claims i
the case. Plaintiff's claim for negligent infliction of emotional distress should be denied.
1.  ORDER

Therefore, it is hereb@ RDERED that T-Mobile USA, Inc.’s Motion for Summary Judgment

(Dkt. 17) is

. DENIED as to Plaintiff's claims for:
. Disability discrimination under the ADA and WLAD, and
. Failure to accommodate under the ADA and WLAD;

. GRANTED as to Plaintiff’'s claims for:

. interference with his FMLA rights, and
. Intentional and negligent infliction of emotional distress.
. Plaintiff's claims for interference with his FMLA rights, and intentional and negligent inflicti

emotional distress a2l SM|1SSED.
The Clerk is directed to send uncertified copies of this Order to all counsel of record and to
party appearingro seat said party’s last known address.

DATED this 23 day of August, 2010.

J ATy

Robert J. Byan /
United States District Judge

ORDER
Page - 16

jence

bn of

any




